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LESTER R TRWIW

Lester Robert "Bob" Irwin was born on June 26, 1928, at
Warren, OChio, the son of Lester M. and Ruth Rowley Trwin. He
graduated from Lordstown High School [0Ohio]l, and he earned a
B.S.Ed. in 1951 and a M.Ed., in 1958, from Kent State Universgity.

Mr. Trwin married Helen (labaugh on August 3, 1952, and they
have two children: Mark Richard Irwin, thivty-three; and Dean
Lester Trwin, thirty.

M. Trwin was a Second Lieutenant in the 1U.S. Avmy from
July 1. 1955, o Septembevr 1953. We was in the Signal Corps, and
served in Korea during the Xovrean War.

My, Trwin was employed by the Howland High School from 1955
to 1989, when he retired. He served as a teacher, coach, assigtl-
ant principal, and librarian.

Mr. Trwin served as mayor of Newton Falls from 1980 to 1987.
Whiia the was wmayor, South Korea returned Mr. and Mrs., Trwin to
Knvrea, as its guests in recognition of his service to it in  the
war aund because he was an elected mavor of a ¢ity in Ohio. This
was done in 1986

Mr. Trwin is a member of the Congregational Chuirch in Newton
Falla, Kiwanisg, and he 18 a trustee of the Newton Falls Public
Libravy Board. He +1ia interested in photography. beoating, and

skiing.
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No vou remember how vou first found out about Korea and
what vou knew about it at that time?

Yeasg, T was in the Army, and I was sent over tLhere
in--T believe it was--about April of 1952, I spent
most of this time in Pusan until about August of 1952.

What wevre your thoughts about going over to Korea?

Well, of course, there was a war at that time. And, I
was one of the fortunate ones. We did enter +in at
Tnchon. T was one of the fortunate ones that went
South to Pusan. Pusan was a city where there were a
Jot of refugees and so forth. It was a very dirty
place. The people were Living under bridges. They
were living under . . . in Tean-—tos, next to houses and
g0 Fforth, made out of tents. and, it was just at the
end of winter time. And, of course, they were telling
about peaple heing found frozen to death and so  forth,
They had open sewers. T saw an open marvrket Tlocated



right next to a dusty road, dirt road. The vegetables
and so forth, were layving on blankets. Meat, also, was
just laving on blankets. And at that time, T said T'd
never want to go back.

Oh, veally? Well, Jlet's go back a little bit. Jow did
you get invelved with the Arwuy? And then, mayhe you
could tell me a little bhit about your basic training.

Well, 7 had a deferment to go to college., I had gradu-
ated from college. F knew that T would be drafted at
thalt fime. 8o therefore, T enlisted into the OFfficers
randidate School.

T see.

And, T went through bagic training at Tndiantown Gap.
T went through Leadership at Tndiantown Gap. RBasic
training wag sixteen weeks. Leadership was eight
weeks., And of course, they teach vou teo shoot and get
your in top physical conditien. Then, T went into a
twenty—-twe week course at Fort Monmouth through OFfi-
cers Training. And, there they trained me. This was a
signal corp, and T came out a Second ILieutenant. My
primary MOS was Signal Supply.

MOS is?
Tt's vyour main. . . . T'm not really sure what it
means. Tt means what vou are qualified for.

What vou can do.

Yes. And then, T went through Fort Holabird, Sigmral
supply School, which was abhout an eight weeks course.
And then, T wag sent to Fort Monmouth--gh, excuse
me -~Camp Gordon, Georglia, where T spent about sixteen
weeks there as an Executive Officer of a basic training
achool for pole Tinemen. And then from there, T was
assigned fo go to Korea. We had choiges. My choices
were Lo go to Germany--7 forget what my second cholce
was--and of course, the only oather choice was Korea.
That's, unfortunately, the one they selected. Because,
ny wife could have gone with me to Germany; but of
course, in Korea at wartime, why of c¢ourse, she could
not go.

Could you give me a typical dav in basie training?
What kind of things did they do?

Well, they usually got us up at about 5:30 a.m. We
went out and 4Aid our usguval morning calisthenics. Then,
we would go to the Mess HWali. Then, it was some type
of march. We'd march out. which would be probably a
ten wmile wmavch or more, out to the rifle range. And,



we would spend the morning shooting. Then, they would
bring Jlunches out in big garbage cans and gso forth.
You'd go along with these uwetal trays.

What was the food like?

The food wasn't too bad, if vou weren't too picky.
They fed you pretty gocd. Sometimes, the fond wasn't
boo  good. For instance, every once in a while, the
cook would make a mistake and he would have the
egge—-—the scranbled eggs--instead of being vellow,
wonld have a tint of green to themn,.

Oh, myv.

and, their main stay seemed to be hamburger gravy on
hing, and we had some favorite names foxr that,

Yasg, T'm sure.

Rut, the food was prettv good. Then, we would spend
the rest of the afternoon shooting or sometimes we
would he in c¢jasses and so forth. Then, we'd march in
and would have our evening meal. And then usually, in
the evening, we were free to do clean up  around the
barracks and so forth.

What about officers? How was it diffevent? Nid vou go
through a typical day?

Tiving off-bage at that time. T would have to get up
nrobably  about 4:30 a.m. to get there at 5:30 a.m.
And of course, rhey would assemble: and then, vou had
to  accept the report that all were there. Then, you
would go to, again, breakfast. And, you would march
with them ouvt to whatever 1t happened to be. They were
learning to string wires on short poles--they didn't
have the real tall poles, becauge of the danger, They
were Jjust Tearning. They had pcoles probably about ten
foot tall. Thay had to c¢limb up and stretch wire and
g0 forth. AaAnd basically, vou didn't do the work. Yo
just sort of stood around and watched what they did and
so  forth., And then, sometimes, yvoun'd have reports to
do . . . and things like that. But as far as training,
they had special people there, regular instructors. In
other words, the officers didn't have to do any of the
instructing or auything. It was your Jjob to see that
they got out there into the field. Thew, the iunstruc-
toras would take over from Lhere.

As  an  officer, again, T would get up early. I was

What 414 they do to train vou as an offiicer?

As T said, at lLieadership School, they trained how to



handle certain situations and so forth. Tn 0OCS8, they
did pretty much the same thing. You also took courses.
vou ‘learned vadio theory in about twenty hours of
instruction. You know, you're supposed to know how to
put a radio together.

Oh, really?

Wo, basicaliy, I think what they were trying to do iz
to  get ug scguainted with a Tot of aveas, such as:

teletype, radio, how to sgstring wire, yvou know. They
want into a ot of things, not in great detall. Tt was
really a c¢rash course. Then of course, you would take

¢lasses  on what to do in certatn field situations and
s0  Fforth. T remember the one instance that evervbody
couldn't quite agree on. They said, "Suppose vou were
in a certain situation where you had a Company of
drivers driving ammunition trucks, and yvou had stopped
at a certain area. And, vou were then golng through an
area where the enemv had rerced in with their artil-

Tery. And for dinstance, sayv that the fivst truck
driver refused to get in the truck and so Torth. And,
vou were under five in enemy territory. What should
voul do?" And of course, the stock answer wag, "Shool
him "

Oh, really?

Tf vou Jet him get away with it, what effect iz it
going to have on the other drivers? You were in a very
dangarous situation. And so, that sounds kind of
harah. But, under a situation like that I guess
there's not too many alternatives.

Do you think your training was adeguate for what vyou
experienced later?

Yeg, T  think zo. It was kXind of a auick twenty-two
waaks . Whereas these fellows going to coollege, they
had the four yvear training. And of rourse, vou go to
West Point with four years training. Tt was mivimum,
but. T think it was adequate for what T had bhecause T
had not planned to be a carveer goldier.

You said yvou were an EBxecutive Officer in one of the
canps. What's the duties of an Executive QOfficer?

Do anyithing that the First O0fFficer didn't. {(laughter)
T was an Executive Officer of a Companvy.

OF a Company.

Yes, And of course,; vou do things that your Commanding
Of Ficer of the Company tells vou to do., O0OfF course, we
got into a lot of things, like we'd get into daily



reports and so forth. You had to send, te the uvext

higher ups, the daily reports of who was there and what
yvou did and things like that.

What rank did yvon have at thig time?
I had a Second lLieutenant.

Second Lieuntenant. Okav, after all your training, vou
went to Korea next?

1 went to Korea,
How did they get you there?

We went by ship. T flew to Fort Lawiton, Washington. T
gspent ahout three or four days there. Then, they took
ug by boat to Yekohama. Then, they teok ng by bus o
Camp Drake, which is near Tokvo.

What was 1t like to go across the Pacific on a troop
ship?

Fortunately, officers had it pretty nice, in fthat we
were packed six in a 1ittle cubbyhole room. We were
only two [bunks] high. We spent most of the mornings
playing cards. And then, we spent most of the after-
noon, we would be plaving bridge, nr something like
that. Going over, vou had to pull duty, T think, two
or three times. T think we gpent something Tike eleven
or twelve davs going over. The duty was, yon weve sup

posed to go through the ship and so forth, and T did
get down into the hold of the ship where the mon coms
and the lTower vanks were. And, that was terrible, in
that they had bunks five or six high, and there was
probably about a foot or Fifteen inches between bunks.
And, it smelled tervible For instance, i1f we hit =zome
very, very rough weather going over, many would get
sick., We were supposed to go near the Hawaili Tazlands,
and they were having tvphoons there. So, we went up
near the Aleutian Telands to missg them. But, the waves
were atill very large. TFor instance, it was quite a
largs ship=--T den't know—-700 feet Jong, or something
Tike that. And, I remember sitting up in the dining
area, and you would see the front end of the ship go
down completely under water.

Wou.

and, it staved there for a little bit. Aand then, after

a while, it would come up. The front end would coune
out of the water completely, and then, bam! Tt would
hit the water again. Tt was guite rough. And of

course, a Tot of these people got seasick. Myself, T
kept eating Dramamine Tike candy wmints, and T didn't



get sieck. T had a violent headache. But, some of the
people down in the beld would get sick. And of
course, they were 1in very c¢raumped counditions, and
especially, 1Ff the top one on the top bunk would get

sick. Whyv, everybody would get splattered down beneath
him!

T know vou'd go inte the Mess Hall there. All it was,
was tables up about 4 feet high, or someithing like
that. They had thege tin trays that they served thelr

Ffood on. Tt. was funny that they would carvy it
over—--if thaey felt like eating---then, the movement of
the gahip . . . the tray would be sliding back and
forth.

Oh, no.

Tt was quite rough going over. Coning back it  was
very, vevry smooth. We had beautiful sunsets coming
back. Tt was a very nice trip coming back, in that

vou'd see the potpoises way off in the distance jumping
and zo forth. You'd JTook where the bow would break the
wake and so forth. You'd see Flying fish come out of
the water, and they'd go skimming across the water and
zo forth. Shovrtly after we left Korea, coming back,
the water had sort of a green tinge to it, in that at
night, these waves would sort of have a bluish cast to
it. Tt wag a real nice trip coming back. Going over
was different. {laughter)

What were your inmpressiong of Tokyo?

Tokvn. . . . We were very fortunate. Again, being anb
Officer. . . . We were stationed at Camp NDrake. We
went through Tokyo over to Yokohama the firsgt day to
gett a number of shots and so forth. We came back
through Tokye ahout ten o'c¢loeck in the morning, and the
bus driver stopped the bus at a corner. There were
probably about twenty-five of us or so on this bus.
The busg driver stopped at the corner and said, "Anybody
want out? Just get bhack to Cawp NDrake by wmidnight."
And then, we go, "How Jdo we get back?" He says, "Just
hail a cab and tell them Camp Drake. They undersitand
whal that means." So, there were two f[fellows, two
Firgt Lieutenants got off. They had been over fthere
hefore, And then, there were four of us wveal green
Second Lieutenants got out, and we started walking down
the road. And of course, natures ourge hit ug, and how
do vyou find a necessary room? So, we looked for what
we needed. We tried to find a beer joint or something
1ike that, There was none arvound. We see this great
big, dmpressive building. Aard, T think what it was,
was a Japanese Pogt Office. So, we go up to the coun-
ter, and this nice, little Japarese girl comes nut and
says something Japanese. And, how do vou tell her that



vou have to go? (laughter)

S0, finally, a policeman comes up, and we start talking
to him. The other two kept talking to the gal, and he
sayes something about hanjo. "No, we don't wanit to play
any music. We wapnt to. . . ." ¥You know. Finally, he
points down to the hall, and then, motioned to Lhe
lteft. So, we took that clue. We go down the hall, and

we 1line up. [Wel go inte the restroom there. "Renjo"
iz what he was trying to say. That is Japanese for
restroom. So, we line up. There happens te be four

urinals there, =20 we all Jine up at the four urinals.
And npretty soon, we hear this little c¢lick, and--of
courge the stalls are behind uvs—--thiz nice, 1little
Japanese girl comes out., Right beside the one fellow
standing at the urinal is where the wash basin is. She
goes up and washes her hands. We just all aboul died,
because that was our first experience.

But, wmost of the Japanese merchants could undersiand

English. Tt was kind of fun, in that, when von would
try to buy something there, they expected you to bar-
ter. He would =say, "Thia would be eighty yen." And,

gou'd really talk to them and maybe get them down to
thirty or forty ven. Tt's all they expected. At that
time, the Japanese were great imitators. For instance,
a Ronson lighter, which would sell for five dollars 1in
the 1United states, you could get it over there for
under a dollar. Aand, you really couldn't tell the
difference. They were greal imitators. They were very
industrious people. T think Lhev were still a little
Teery of the U.8. troopsg, because less than six  vears
bafore, we had defeated them in a war,

Right.

But, it was a very beaulbiful town. The homes were very
well kept. They had, vou see, these low gardens that
they have, they do actually exist. They have these,

what are they? The bonsal trees, or whatever. and,
they're very, very well manicured and very beaut]iful.
And, T remember gseeing traffic was terrible and vyou

would scee these people riding bicveles. And, this one
Fellow had a bicyele, and he was delivering some boxes
or something. And, on the back end of his bhicyecle, it
had these boxes stacked sixteen feet high.

Really?

And, he'd go weaving down through that traffic, and T
don't know how he ever keplt himself from getting
¥i1Tled. Buit, yvou would see that. There were an awful
Tot of bicycles. Then, thevy bad a lot of three wheeled
trucks, in that they would have the one, like a wotor-
cycle wheel in the front. Then, they would have the



two wide wheels in the bhack with something seort of like
a pick up truck. . . .

The bhed.

The hed to haul stuff. BRut, T enjoyed Japan. T saaid
T'd like to go back to TJTapan again.

Then, they sent vou to Korea?
Then, they sent me to Korea.
And, where did you go theve?

We went din a ship. We took a ship from Yokohama
arvound to Tnchon, that's where they had made the land-
ing, T guess, about a vear before. Theve were still a
Tot of burned out landing barges and so Eorth, but vou
conld tell what {here were. There had heen guite a
bhattle thers. Because, there were trucks, and T think
1 renmember geeing a couple tanks that had been burned
out. You realize that not all of them made it out of
there. But then, from Tuchon, as I said, I fortunately
went south +to Pusan. At that time, they were still
fighting up around Sceoul. So, I went down to Pusan,
the refugee city, and was a Korean Base ofFficer. When
T arrived, there was a Majovr Ffrom Massachusetts that
wag gort of the officer in charge, and T was to be his
axrecutive or assigtant. What our duty was, 1if
anvbody in Rorea needed signal equipment, it was our
job to get the eguipment and get it to them, And of
course, being a Second Lieutenant, T didn't know what
wag going on guite a bit of the time. But, about a
month or twoe after T arrived, the Major Teft. And,
this called for a Light Colonel, which meant, he had
time dJn the Army. A poor little Second Lieutenant
Tike myself, I fortunately had a very good Sergeant who
knew what was going on, and he helped me a great deal.
T remember a couple of the instances that we.

. - .

Well, one dn particular, the Korean Base Seation
General saw they weve having qguite a time unload-
ing. The Pusan Harbor is not tooe large a harbor, and

space was at a premium. So that, what they would do
t2, they would unload something, 1ike something for the
Quartermaster; and then they would notify the Quarter-
master (o come pick it up. Well, 1in the meantime,
while they were notifying them, they would then be
unloading something else and pile it right on top of
it. So, when the Quartermaster came, they couldn't get
the stuff until somebody else got their atuff., And,
what was Thappening was the harbor was completely
clogged. And so, therefore, the General said, "We're
going to correct this. I want a hundred and twenty-
five teletypes so that when a ship comes in, we're
going to have a teletype down in the hold of the ship.



We're geoling to teletype them that we are going to start
unloading. Get down here pronto, and get this Joaded
nop." And then, of course, it was my job to get the
hundred and twenty-five teletvpes. So what I did, T
checked around with all the Companies in Rorea. And
of course, under T.0.& B., which is .. again, T
don't know what it wmeans, but T did at the time. It's
your authorized equipment. If thevy had it on T.0.& F.
and they weren't using it, then they would send it 1in
and I would order them replacements. Well, T think T
got ahout rifty that way. Then, there were about
twenty in the harbor area. We had none in the Pusan
Signal Depot. T sent to Yokohama, and I think they had
Fifty or forty inm ¥Yokohama Signal Depot. So, T sent a
request to get those over, and of course, we were still
short. aboutr thirty-five. So, what T did, I sasent
state—-gide with an emevrgency rvequigsition, no authoriza-
Eion except the General's word, to airlift thirty-five
teletypes from the Washington Signal Depot. 0Of course,
anything Tike that goes divectly te the Pentagon. I
didn't know what was going to happen, hecause ordering

astuff without authorization is not wpermitted. But,
the @General said, "Get it." So, that's what T did.
and then, ¥ don't know whatever happened, because T
Teft {after] about two months--T only apent about five
months  over there. Tt was very interesting. But

basically, T didn't know what T was doing tooe wmuch,
because as 1 said, the job called for a Light Colonel,
which would have had more expevience than a Second
hieutenant. T didn'tt have the experience, but we
middled through.

Yes. Nid you have any problems with black markets orv
anything like that? ¥You hear a lot about that.

There were some black wmarkets in Korea. T didn't
really get inte 1it, but 7T know it was there. .- .
Again, this was a refugee town. J rvememnber one time T

walked up into the market area and--T'd been warned
ahout thig-—-these Korean kids, they were supposed to be
going to an orphanage. But, they just walked away from
the orphanage, and they really Iived on the streets.
There would bhe gangs of them, and what fthey would do is
they would have a Tlittle mirror. And of c¢ourse, a
aunshiney day, they would take this mivror and flash it
in vour eves. And, as they flashed it in vour eyes
they would pick your pockets. And of course, there
would be probably twenty of these kids all congregating
around you. You really had to watch. For instaunce, ny
wife had just sent me a pen and pencil setl, brand new
one, treal good-expensive one. And of course, 1t was
dgone. They told about one fellow--a British Officer
that was up on the Ffront lines-— and, he knew he was
coming to Pusan. And, of course, booze was pretty hard
to get up onh the front lines. So, evervbody had given
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hWim money. T think he had around nine hundred dollars
to  come down and get booze. 0Of course, the Britigh
uniform hasg the big pouch pockets. A gang of kids cane
around him, and again, flaghed him in the eve and sgo
forth. Somebody had taken a vazor blade and slit his
pocket, and he was out the nine hundred bucks. Aanother
thing that T remenber, tuvbevcvlosis in Korea, at that
time, a very high percentage of the people had it. T
remember seeing this one fellow, he must have been old;
he lLooked ancient. But, 7 don't imagine he was over
thivty orv forty, and vou could tell he had tuberculo~
alg. His «hest, the center of his chest was sunken
way, way down. He just sort of ambled on. They alwavys
gleep on the floor. Koreans sleep on the Floor. There
in this rather nice railroad station that the Japanese
had built when they occupied Korea, he just sort of
laid down theve on the walkway and opened up his grass
mat. He 1laid down there. He wag filthy. T don't
think he had a bath for weeks, and there were flies all
over him. He Just was a real pitiful gite.

[Were] most of the people wevre very poor that way?
Yes, most of them were very poor.

0f course, these were refugees.

Yes, ves.

S0, they basically had to get up and Teave.

Well, the refugees. . . . See, the war was still going
on up north at that time, and so, they were living any
placve they could Eind. T rewmember seeing under
bridges, families. 'The main stream was way, way back

because of the Summertime. They [the refugees] were
tiving 1ipn under the bridges, and Lthen, yvou would see
Tean~tos made out of canvas and go forth, that they've
packed up under the ease of the house and Just extended
it out. That's where they lived. ¥You know, Winter
time, the tewmperature got down there, it would get down
to zero. Canvas is not very much protection.

No.

Another thing that 1 remember about RKorea is, I remem-
hber the hlack widows, the plane. They were a double

fuselage, Tike a P38, except they were much, much
bigger. I rvememher about five or six o'clock every
night, they would Just take off 1in droves. Mayvbe,

Fitty, a hundred of thewm. I den't know. aAnd, they'd
head North. You know what they were doing.

Yos. T wasn't fawmiliar with those. That's 1doterest-
ing.

10



They're JTike a P-38, except they're much bigger. They
have a lot more fire power, and they can carry quite a
bit more bowmbs and sc forth. And, you'd see them going
up there on Jjust droves about five or gix o'clock.
And, of course, they'd get up into and around Seoul.
Tt would only take them probably an hour, an hour and a
half. Because, when you talk about Korea, Korea is the

gize of Ohio. And right now, Korea has--what Is
jt==~forty million people, whereas Ohio has ten willion
people. So, youn just take Ohio and put four times as

many people, and that's what yvou have in Kovea, South
Korea that is.

Any other experiences in. . . . You sgaid that two
monthg after your order the teletypes, you left Korea?

Yes. I left RKorea. T'l1l never forget the departuent
Army letter number twenty-five that stated anyboedy,
fhat is, "any officer”" that wanted out could gquete the
departmnent memo and reguest a discharge. The war ended
about the firgt of august. See, T helped win the war,
hecause I was over theve. {(Jaughter) And so, they knew
that the war was coming to an end; and when it was over
and they didn't need as many officers, they said, "Any
officer that wanted to get out could gquote department
Army Jetter number twenty-five, and you c¢ouvld get
discharged."” So, I had a real good friend who was down
in the Com Center.

What's a Com (Center?

That's where, the Communication Center . where all
the messages come througbh regardless of where dit's

from. Tt came through there., And then, 1t's sent to a
Commanding General and so forth. Well, this young
Second Lieutenant, a good friend of mine in fthe Com
Center, he came up with this department of the Army
Jetter number fwenty-five. He sald, "Hey, loock at
this!" So, we both got on the typewriter and wrote up
our reguests. We had it on our Colonel's desk, the

Commanding Colonel of the Signal Corp, before the
Conmmanding Geneval even goht the letter. (laughter) So,
wer both requested immediate discharge.

So, T went to another camp there wheve we're supposed
to sent out, as I had requested 1immediate discharge.
S50, they wrote me up orders to fly home. Some Colonel
at the Center thevre, changed my orders. He said that
he noticed I had only been theve five months. And he
says, "Any short timer, that's only been here five
months, ig certainly not going to fly home." So, he
changed my orders, and I c¢ame home by boat. But, had T
flown heme, T would have been home before my wife would
even know that T was coming home. But, it was a very

11



favorable experience, as far ag the Army. I am a firm
believer that you make out of the army what you put
into ir. Like for instance, if you yo in the Army and
you say you're not geing to like it, somehow the Army
jusgt makes 1t so vou don't like it. If vou tLry to get
along in the Army and so forth, why, dit's not bhad.
T've often said that 1f T had been recalled, which they
were doing to some at that time, T would have prohably
tried to stay in the Army.

What specific ovtfit were yvou with?

T was with the Korean Base Section. South Xorea was
really divided into two aveas. The fighting unit, the
Eighth Army and so forth wag up on the front lines.
The XKorean Base Section was in the back, and they were
more as the supply, like Signal Supply and Quartermas-
ter. In other words, it wag our job to watch for
infittrators and go forth. But, the bhiggest thing was
to get the supplies to the front ilines where they were
neaded.

What were vyour Teelings about vour leadership, the
upper officer?

Very good. And, T don’'t remember the name, but the
Colonel we had as fTar as the Signal Section, which
Jnclided the supply, the Com Center, the whole bit, he
was a very Tine fellow. Major Cavenau, the fellow rLhat
was there dn the suwpply Section, he had been in the
Army for about twenty wmonths, and he was very knowl-

edgeablea. [He was] well 1Tiked. He kunew what he was
doing. Mogt of the officers that T had througheut the
Army, most of them were fine gentlemen. Tf you tried

to get along with them, they got along with you.
No problem.

No problem.

Okay. T know that you went back teo Korea in 1986 as a
guest of the Yorean Government,.

Yes, right,

Do vou want to give me a little background about how
that came about, and what voun saw?

Okay. The Mayor from Cuyvahoga Falls, who taught part-
time ¢lasses at Akron University, became friends with a
Korean professor, who was a friend of guite a few of
the upper echelon of Xorea. He had graduated with them
in rollege and so forth., So, they got to talking, and
the mayor toeld him a little about being in Korea. The
Rorean professor said, "Wouldn't it be nice 1if we could
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get vou bhack there?" So, he talked to the upper eche-
lons and so forth. They thought it would be terrific.
So, there wag a little article put out in the Ohio
Municipal Leaguve Paper that said, "Anvbody thalt was a
Mayor al the present time and had been in Korea during
the war, should contacht this fellow from Cuyaboga
Falls." 8o, [ contacted him, and there was some plans
made Ffor June 1985. Tt had to be delayed until 1986.
Rut £inally, there were eight of us that went over to
Korea, and six wives.

Iiet me note that vou were Mavor of Newton Falls at this
time.

Yes, T was Mayor of Newton Fallg at this time, There
were seven other Mayors from Ohico, and sgix of our
wives—--two of the wives could not go because they were
111. This was all picked up by the Kovean Government.
After many delays, we geb a call at the end of Apzril
1986, The caller =zaid, "Do you have vonr passport in
orvder?" We had ordered them the year before because
we wanted to go. We thought, "Hey, There might be a
chance."” S0, our nassporbks were all in order, and
the mavor says, "We've going the last of May." Well,
it was delayved until the fivst of June, 1986. And,
they sent us tickets. We had never met these mayors
hefore. We met about four of the mayors and three of
their wives up at Cleveland Hopkin's Airport. We flew
from there to Laguardia. Then, we had to transfer to
JFR, and we met the rest of the mavors and their wives
at JFK. We flew, T believe it was Fifteen hours, non

stop, from JFK. dnd of course, we wmade this cirvcle,
almost to the Aleutian Isliands. We came down across
where the Kovean ailrplane had been shot down, and as T
told my wife, "TIf we see the Rusgian pilots, just wave
at him and tell him we'rve friendly." But, we finally
Janded in Kimpo Aivport, which is right outside the
feonl. . . . We had nce idea what we were going to do
or anything. We were Jjust going back to Korea. 8o, we
get theve, and after bheing fifteen hours on the alr-
plane, we go through customs and so forth. {Thenl, we
coms  out into the lobby of the airport. and, there's
Korean newspapers, televisions, and so forth. There,
some of us are in shorts. After being fifteen hours In
the airplane, we're all bushed, and we must have made
gquite an inpression. Anyway., they then leoad us onto a
hus. And finally. Colonel Ahn, who is the Executive
Vice President of the Korean Retired Army Group, ¢gets
up and he says, "Welcome to Korea." He handed out
these booklets, and said, "Thig ig what we'vre going to
do." Before, we had no idea what we were going to do.
They really treated us rovally, because they put us up
in one of the nicest hotels, which happened to be right
next to one of the Korean Universities. A couple of
mayors were out walking with all the student demonstra-
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tiong and so forth. This couple of the mayors met a
voung fellow who was going to that University,. They
guestionaed him  about all the student trouble and s=so
forth. And he savs, "Oh, there's no trouble here.
Most ofF that trouble is North RKovean inspired.” And,
he took them through the University. T was kind of
jealous. I wish I would have gone, too. But, he took
them through the university, and he gays, "There's no
trouhle with most of the students." He wajid, "For
instance, the North Koreans tried to take over by
military force and lost." IFf you can't take over by
military force, what do you do? You 1infiltrate. He
¢laimed that this is the main thing. Demonstrations
at that time were almost all North Korean inspired.
They sent all types of people down to infiltrate. or
course, students are pretty impressionable, vyou know.
They [North Koreans, would] get a group of students
goeing, and then they, "let's demonstrate." But, as far
ag Korea, there was a great change in Seoul. T flew up
to Seoul once when T was over theve in 1952, At that
time, it was a hombed out city. There was just a Tlot
of rubble and so forth, very few bulldings standing.
Tt was rveally gone. They marched down through It and

up through it and down several times. There wasn't
much tTeft. This was seven years Jlater, and vyou Just
wortldn't recognize the entire city. You couldn't +fell
it  from Chicago or New York, or any place Tike that,
except there weve a lot of Xoreans running around. Tt
was tremendous. There was huilding going on every-
wheve. Seould is & c¢ity of nine million people, and

there's just people every place. They wetre building
all types of apartuwent buildings and so forth. The
average Korean could neot afford a house. They could
afford an apartment.

Another interesting thing iz that our guide, even
though he was in an apavtment, they =still slept on the

floor. It's just sort of tradition, because we visited
several different places. We went to one place, which
was an old kingdom. They have a house there with
tunnels underneath. We asked him, "What are those
tunnels for?" O0f conrse rhey had no heat. He seid,
"What they would do is stari a fire out at the and of
the tunnel. Then, the heat would then go underneath

the building. That's the wayv they heated thelr house."
So, at night, where's the warmest place to sleep? TIt's
on the floor. So of course, they have little grass
mats that T mentioned before, and that's what they do.
They sleep on the grass mal. on the flcor, hecause that
was the warmest place. And of course, this has, appar-
ently, Just become a tradition. Some of the things
that we did, we went to the Kovean National Cenetery,
which idis 1ike our National Cemetery in Washington,
where all the dead Korean soldiers and so forth are
hburied., We placed a wreath there, and 1t was quite an
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impressive ceremony. This was our first acguaintance
with any of the Korean school kids. My wife and T,
being teachers, are kind of interested. They brought
bus leoad after bus load of Korean kids, and they sort
of steood back in the pavrking Jlot and watched this whole
thing. Of course, the walkway down to Lthe tomb had
Korean militavry men from all services there. You talk
ahout being strajght. You know, thev're like our men
at the Arlington Cemetery. They're the spit and shine
part. Rut, it was a very, very Tiunpressive ceremony.
These Tittie kids, they were all dressed in wniforms.
Some wonld have, most of them would have hlue shorts

on. But, some of them would have a yellow shirt or a
light blue sghirt or a red shirt or something like that.
Both the girls and the hoys wore unifcorms., Then Ffrom
there, they toock us to a dinner, where my wife met her
favorite Admiral. Over in Korea, women are second
clags. T sat next to the Admiral's wife., My wife was
acrosg the table frowm me and sitting next to the
Admiral. The Admiral's wife was across from him =it -
ting mext to me. So, T spoke to the Admirval's wife.
Te bad mentioned that she was a teacher. T saild, You
teach?" and, she ghakes her head yes. And, I said

something about, "Well, what grade did you teach?" She
shook her head "yes," yvou know, very politely. T found
out through that, that she could not speak English.

Over therve, the men get out:; but the women, most of
them, do not get out. Of course, it's a very male
doninated type of family arrangement. My wife was

s#itting next to the Admiral, and he was talking to the
other mavors that were sitting at the table and so

forth. Finally, she was fed up. I forget what she
s#ald, but--7T know——-it was sgomething about a fur coat or
something. He says, "You buy her fur coats?" And, she
started Jin on the conversation. But, in a Korean

society, that is not common.

[There were]l a couple of the other things that we
vieited. We did go up to the Eighth Army Headguarietrs.
We also went to Panmunijom, where the Peace Talks are
held, Technically, fouth Korea and North Korea arve
stil]l at warv. They have sgigned a peace agreement, but
techoiacally, thev're still at war. And, we wore always
111 at ease at Panmunjom. We drove in with our buses,
and vou look over at the Neorth Korsan side. There's a
great big, impressive building on the North EKorean
side But, the thing is, they tell you that it's only
five foot thick, or, no thirteen foolt thick. and, it
was funny. They had the curtains on the windows. And
vou kept seeing curtains move. You knew darn well that
vou wWere being watched from the North Xorean side.
About a week bhefore we were there, they had a group of
North Koreans apparently stowing them the front from
the WNorth Rorean side. One North Korean made a Dbreak
for 1k, and he ran across the De Militarized line,
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through underneath the tower. The South Koreans have
an elevated sentry post in the tower. Tht's sort of an
octagen thing where, Ffor twenty-four hours, they have
somebody there Jooking, with field glasses. He ran
through, underneath the tower and back idinto a nice
Tittle garden they had, and then, inte the bush behind
it. Well, shortly later, there were some North Korean
soldier came over looking for him. One of the South
Korean wsoldiers Ffound this Ffellow and led him away.
He defected successfully. But, in the mean time, while
they were looking through the bushes, and so forth,
there seemed to be a little argument. There was a fire
Fight started, and one of the Scuth Korean soldiers
were killed. Of course, there's nothing they could do
about it, because theyv're technically at war with North
Korea. And then, down at one of the senkry stations,
which was another area about a half mile away, there
was what ig known as a bridge of no return. This is a
bridge across a gorge between North and South KXorea.
There's a sgentry post on both sideg~-North gide and

South side. Thig 1ls where all the North and South
Korean soldiers would exchange prisoners of war and so
forth. No yvou remember Captain Butcher from the Peblo?
Yes,

He was Teturned at this bridge of no return. There
have been remains, and 211 kinds of things that have
exchanged there. But, thev had this sentry post here,
and then way off about a quarter of a mile away, they
had another sentry post on a hill. But, in between
these sentry posts, there was a tree. This tree sort
of blocked the visibility of what was going on at the
other sentry post. Visihility was important, because

this sentry post was vight down next to the bridge, and
they couldn't exactly see what was going on down there.
They wanted to c¢hop thig tree down, so they sent a
Tdevtenant with an unlisted man down to chop the tree
down . Well, there were about eight North Korean sol-
diers, who came across the bridge. They started talk-
ing to them. They don't know ewactly what happened,
but anyway, the Lieutenant and the soldier were killed
with thelr own axes. OF course, again, they can't do
anything abount it, because thev're still at war. S0,
the powersg-to-be savs, "We're going to cut that down."
S0, they brought in a carrier and put it off TInchon,
which is about twenty miles away. They brought in a
full vegiment of soldiers into the "Zovwne B." And, by
agreement, "Zone A," they can only bave so many sol-
diers in there. But, "Zone B," which is back about a
mile, they can hring in as many as they want. 8o, they
brought in a whole regiment of battle ready soldiers.
They had planes flying from the battle wagon, from the
carrvier, and Trom Seoul and Pusan, all eguipped with
bombs, wveady to go. They, then took a Company of
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Raorean soldiers who were veterans and had all black

belts. They were their "orveam of the crop." They just
stood around the tree. Then somehow, they Just were
able to cut the tree with no interference. That, they

¢all it the most expensive tree trimning in the world.
After the first couvple of dayvs where we did our formal
type of things, they then took us to a couple Buddhist
temples. They took us to a Korean village, which is
like +the Hale Farm and so forth. It's all the older
types of houses. There we wevre very pleasantly snr-
prised, 1in that, one voung lady with her brother and,
apparently, her mother and father spoke fo us. Of
course, 1t had been on the Korean radio and TV that we
were there, She gaid, "Are vou the Ohioc mayors?" And,
we =zaid, "Yes." She said that she, on behalf of Korea,
would 1ike to thank us for saving their country. S0,
it was kind of heart warming to have somebody that
didn't even know you to thank you. And, she really, T
think, felt that way. You know, there are demonstra-
tions against the United States, but there are some
RKorean people that avre very thankful for what we did
during the Korean war. The Korean Village was very
intevest ing. One of the things we sanpled was green
bean pancakes with soy sauce on it. It doesn't sound
good, vyou know, at first, but it was pretty good.
They just simply ground up green beans, mixed it 1in
with the pancake batter, and then fried it. Then, put
soy sauce on it. They then took usz to the Korea House,
which 1ig gort of a stage, dinner theater ftype thing.
Firtst, we went into the building. We had to leave our
shoes in cubbvholes, and we put on =slippers. We went
down a 1little hallway to the voom. We then, left our
sTippers at the doorway, and then we went in with our

gocka. We s=at on the floor. Fortunately, they had
Tittte sedt cushions with backs to them. But, T under-
stand that, sometimes they don't even have that. But,
we had all types of Korean food. We had kimchi. We

had pine nuts. We bhad all types of thingsg that were
all Korean type food. And, most of it was pretiy good.
The hot kimchi was pretty hot.

What's kiwmchi?

Kimchi dis a Korean dish. . . I remember back in
1952, if asomebody is making kimchi, you could smell it
for miles. What they do is, they take fish heads,
fish, vice, a cabbage and so forth. They cook it, and
Ehen they leave it ferment. That fermenting may take
as much as three or four months. When 1t's fermenting,
vyt ¢can smell it for miles. After a Korean has been
eating kimechi and if they eat a Jot of 1it, wyou can
amel’l it on their body odor. Tt's probably something
like garlic, or something. But, vou ¢an actually smell
it on their body odor. In other words, when we had
girls taking care of some of the rcoms in the BOQ in
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1953, they could not eat kimchi. They were ordered,
"Thon shall not eat kimchi if you've going to work
here." because vou can smell] iti

But Korea, the changes in Korea, in the c¢ity, it was
tremendous the building that was going on. Of c¢ourse,
they were getting ready for the Olympics, also. It
Just  seemed everyvbody was so industrious and c¢lean.
Around here, beer bottles and so forth are all arcund.
There, you saw nothing, because they had people going

around c¢leaning up. T think the Koreans just took a
great pride in their country. You would see street
workers working around the clock. For instance, in one

park, where they were vepalring it, you'd see them out
there at two or three in the morning. We also did get
to go through the Samsung Blectronics Plant, and we
woent through the Hyundaj aAuto Plant. Again, as far as
the auvto plant, we'wve been through General Motors, and
it tooked very similar, with the exception that these
workers did not have relief operators. They were
expected to be on the job. Tf they got =ick, that's
too bad. They wovrked twelve houv shifts, six days a

week. They would come in to work, and the company then
would provide two meals a day for them. Tf they were
en midnight turn, they'd gel two meals. If day turn,

they'd get two meals. The company would help thewm buy
houses and so forth., Tt was vreally quite an honor to

work for HWyundai. The wages were much better than
the average wage. At that time, they weve earning
about four hundred dollars a monlh, T believe. That
was rveal good money Eor them. They were wvery, very
industrious, The plants were clean. We also went

through a steel mill. T've been through Republic
Steel, which 18 dirtyv and so forth. The steel mill had

trees planted down along the driveway and so forth. Tt
was so nuch cleaner than Republic Stesl. They just
seem so tndustrious. The other thing we noticed, Korea
does not know democracy as we know it. ITt's =still

pretty much a police state. They do have elections and
g0  forth. But, the individval freedows that we have,
they just don'{ have the freedom over there. It is
pretty much controlled. Of course, mayvbe it's because
there's so many people. They have to be Lhis way.
They don't seem to have the freedom that we have here.
The other thing we noticed is the transportation. With
nine million people, the average person cannot afford a
car. The highwavs ave still plugged, and they do have

a bus system. The buses, they're packed. They are
seated two or three in a seat. And, even the aisle
ways are so plugged. There are two or three wide
astanding in the aisle. Tt must be under the commer-
cial "dial," because they Just have so many standing so
¢lose. There would be one bus, right after another
bus, after another bus. Tt was Jjust mags transporta-—

tion. Alao, we did get to go to see the Mavor of
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Seocul, and the Assistant Director of, or the Assistaot
Prime Minister. Tt would be Vice President here in the
U.8. They would feed you the drink ginseng. What this
is, ds a little plant something Tike a turnip. They
make a tea out of thisg. Thig tea is supposed to cure
all your ills, inciluding vour sgex ills.

Oh, really?

The wives were not permitted to go, because, again,
thig is a very male dominated culture. But, they would
serve you this dginseng tea, and they were very cordial.
And of course, we received a lot of 1little trinkets
while we were over Tthere. The Korean Government pre-—
sented each mavor with a Freedom Fighter Award. It
was a very impressgive. There was so much difference
between Korea in 19582, and Korea in 1986. It just wasg
tremendons, the diffevrence. Of couvrse, you have to
realize they were at war. They were destroyed several
times. Almost all of Rorea had been captured, and
then, they pushed them back te the thirty-eighth paral-
lel. ®But, it's a very beautiful country. Tt's a very
rocky country. Taechnically, they're still at war.
When we were talking to the Commanding General of the
Eighth Army, he was saying that, "We know that North
Rorea is making plans o invade South Korea again." At
the Worth Korean Department of Defense, the person 1in
charge sgsaid, "Give me the okay, and 1'11l bhave all of
South Korea within a week." The General said, "We know
what thevy're going to do." He gaid, "Korea has moun-
tains golng North and South and they have vallevs going
North and South. We know that they have spent 25

percent of their national budget on warfare. A  good
bit of this is going into tanks. They have tank after
tank after tank batallions.” And, to compare 25 per-

cent, I think South Korea ig gpending 5 percent of i1t
on military defense. 8o, they're spending a large
percentage of their national budget on military. And,
they know that what the North Kovreans are g¢golng to do,
if it ever comes about, that they're going teo take
their tankg and run right down South. Of covrse, the
General said, "We have things to counteract this."” He
said, "We can't tell you what it is. Buit, this iz what
we feel is coming. We'te taking measures to meet jb 1if
it ever comes." T know going from Seoul up to Panmun-
jom, we passed Lhrough a sort of a guard area, in that,
for as Jlong as vou can look, there's a hill of dirt
that is built up. The hill must have been about thirty
feet high. Where the voadways go through, there's a
bridge there. Then they have little things that Jlook
like giant jacks sitting off to the side. What they
nlan to do iz, to throw those jacks in the roadway, in
ithe case there 1is a tank. They say they know that the
hills and the Jjacks are not going to stop then. Al1
they have to do is, of course, blast away, and they'll
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hlast a hole through it. But, they said, "At least
this 1is going te be a deterrent, so that if it comes,
we can have a 1ittle hit of time to counteract whevever
they're cominy and so forth." 8§So ves, they're sbtill at
work over there.

One last guick guestlion and ithen we can finish up. We
hear a Tol about Vietnaw and its Veterang today, and
very Little about Korea. How do vou feel about that?

Well, there has bheen some voice to thig, and T under-
stand there is some movement., To fact, the only monu-~
ment for the Korean War built by the United States, is
over in Korea ltself. Tt's Jjust South of Panmunijom.
And ves, I feel that there should have been. I under-
astand that there iz some method, or some movement, to
get a Worean monhument.

Well, T appreciate you taking all this time to ralk to
me, If there's anvthing else to finish up.

No, just for my wife and T, it was quite an experience.
We'd Tike to go back to Rorea again, because they are

very industrions. They are very Friendly people. The
students are very well mannered, and so forth. Every
time you would see them come up and savy, "an-nyong-ha-
sip~nik-ga," they'd bow and so forth, which means,
"Hello, how are you." They're very nice people.

However, one Jlast comment. T said earlier that T'd
1ike to go to Japan.

Yes,

T sort of changed my mind, in that, when we were in the
hotel, the--well, Japan 18 only about a hundred miles

acroas Korea straits Erom South Korea. S50, there's an
awful lot of Japanese that come over there for vaca-
tion. There was a whole busload of Japanese pulled

into the hotel. They come into the heotel as we're
standing there waiting on the elevator to go upstairs.
These Japanese come up, and they sort of give vyvou a
shove, until they were standing either right beside vou

or standing in front of you. The elevator comes down,
T vemembetr this old Japanesge lady standing vight bLeside
we . She gives me an elbow right sguare in the chest

that knocked the wind out of wme, almost. 8She busts in
to the elevator before 1t even opened the door. Before
the other people had a chance to get out, she barged
in. The rest of the Japanese did the sawme way. We saw
them at other places, and they were the most 1131~
mannered people that yvou could ever imagine. Just fron
that, T sort of lTost my desire to go. Tt was complete-
Ty  different. The Koreang were very polite, vwvery
polite, They can't deo enough for vou. Mayvbe, the
Japanese were on vacaltions or something, and want to be

20



known as a tourist. They were very, very rude.
RB: Okay. Thank you.

I: You're welcome.

ENTY OF TNTHRRVIEW
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